IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CP-00327-COA

FILED

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

DERRICK MITCHELL

JUN 2 9 2010

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Servick Mitchell BY:

Derrick Mitchell, #R8556 SMCI - 2 P. O. Box 1419 Leakesville MS 39451

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

PRO SE PRISONER BRIEF

JUL 0 % 2010

÷

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE

The trial court erred in failing to find that the Habitual offender motion charging Mitchell as a habitual offender under Miss. Code Ann. 99-19-83, as well as the order which allowed the indictment to be amended, was defective and void where the order fail to allege or charge, and the state failed to introduce proof of, the element of the dates of the sentencing and judgment in the prior convictions. The motion and order also fail to allege the court in which such prior conviction imposed.

ISSUE TWO

The trial court erred in failing to find that Mitchell was subjected to ineffective assistance of counsel, at the time of the plea of guilty and during sentencing proceedings in the court, when his attorney allowed the motion to amend the indictment to be filed and allowing the court to enter an order approving such motion legal requirements of setting out the date of sentencing in each prior conviction, in violation of his 6^{th} Amendment rights to the United States Constitution and the Constitution of the State of Mississippi.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

.:

Appellant, Derrick Mitchell, was indicted by Lafayette County, Mississippi, February 10, 2006, charging that Mitchell did unlawfully, willfully and feloniously, knowingly and intentionally possess a controlled substance which was cocaine with the intent to transfer.

The prosecution, after the indictment was filed and on January 3, 2007, moved for an amendment to the indictment to charge habitual offender status under Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 9-19-83.

The motion filed by the prosecution was served upon Mitchell's defense attorney, Honorable Ken Coghlan, Esq. on January 3, 2007.

The motion to amend the indictment did not specify or name the date of the sentencing in the prior convictions, the date of the convictions, the jurisdiction or court in which the prior convictions were had. The motion did not meet the statutorily required elements or the requirements of the rules of law and judicial decisions regarding charges under the habitual status.

The trial court filed an order on January 8, 2007, which merely tracked the language of the state's motion to amend as a carbon copy and never mentioned any requirements of law just as the state's motion.

5

Defense counsel never challenged the motion nor the order but advised Mitchell to plead guilty and accept 10 years as a habitual offender..

Petitioner Mitchell was subsequently sentenced by the Judge, as a habitual.

The Court never indicated which habitual statute in which it was applying.

Mitchell was never made aware at any time that the state had not met the requirements of law. All legal documents in the case was presented to counsel and counsel never shared such information with Mitchell in any way, shape, form,, or fashion. Mitchell was completely at the mercy of his attorney during the proceedings.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT MITCHELL WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND SUBJECTED TO PLAIN ERROR IN SENTENCING WHERE THE AMENDMENT TO THE INDICTMENT WAS DEFECTIVE AND FAILED TO MEET STATUTORY AND CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENTS ON SETTING OUT REQUIRED INFORMATION AS TO DATE OF JUDGMENT IN PRIOR CONVICTIONS.

The motion to amend the indictment and charge Mitchell as a habitual offender provided

the following:

The defendant Derrick Mitchell is indicted in this case for the crime of sale of cocaine.

The defendant was previously convicted in this court of two separate and distinct felonies which arose at different times, which are otherwise wholly unrelated, one to the other, and which were separately prosecuted. In cause number LK98-265B the defendant was convicted of the felony crime of possession of cocaine with intent to distribute and was sentenced to serve a term of three years incarceration in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. In cause number LK98-265B the defendant served more than one year in prison. In cause number LK98-33 ID the defendant was convicted of the felony crime of sexual battery and was sentenced to serve a term of three years incarceration in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. In cause number LK98-331D the defendant served more than one year in prison. The crime of sexual battery is a violent crime within the meaning of §99-19-83. Because of the convictions and sentences listed above, the defendant Derrick Mitchell is a habitual offender under §99-19-83, and the only lawful sentence in this cause in the event of his conviction is life in the penitentiary without the possibility early release, probation or parole.

The State prays that the indictment will be amended to allege that the defendant Derrick Mitchell is a habitual offender under §99-19-83 and is required to be sentenced to life in the penitentiary without the possibility early release, probation, or parole.

The habitual amendment motion filed against Mitchell on January 3, 2007, by the State of Mississippi clearly failed to meet the requirements of law and created plain error in it's attempt to charge Mitchell as a habitual offender. The motion never mentioned nor set out the dates of sentencing or dates of judgment in each of the prior convictions and the Court or jurisdiction in which such alleged prior convictions had occurred. Reading the motion it is clear that charges made in the motion to amend fail to allege any date of the previous sentences which the state sought to use against Mitchell to forfeit the remainder of Mitchell's earthly life. This cannot be disputed.

On January 8, 2007, the trial court, as a routine procedure, filed it's Order to Amend the Indictment to Allege Defendant is a Habitual Offender subject to mandatory sentence of life without parole. The Court's Order was as follows:

> The defendant Derrick Mitchell is indicted in this case for the crime of sale of cocaine. The defendant was previously convicted in this court of two

> > 7

separate and distinct felonies which arose at different times, which are otherwise wholly unrelated, one to the other, and which were separately prosecuted. In cause number LK98-265B the defendant was convicted of the felony crime of possession of cocaine with intent to distribute and was sentenced to serve a term of three years incarceration in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. In cause number LK98-265B the defendant served more than one year in prison. In cause number LK98-331D the defendant was convicted of the felony crime of sexual battery and was sentenced to serve a term of three years incarceration in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. In cause number LK98-331D the defendant was convicted of the felony crime of sexual battery and was sentenced to serve a term of three years incarceration in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. In cause number LK98-33 ID the defendant served more than one year in prison. The crime of sexual battery is a violent crime within the meaning of §99-19-83.

Because of the convictions and sentences listed above, the indictment is amended to allege that the defendant Derrick Mitchell is a habitual offender under §99-19-83, and the only lawful sentence in this cause in the event of his conviction is life in the penitentiary without the possibility early release, probation, or parole.

Except for the amendment to the indictment to allege that the defendant is a habitual offender, the allegations of the indictment as originally filed remain unchanged.

The trial court, in the Order regarding amending the indictment, never mentioned the date of the alleged convictions, date of sentencing, nor the Court and Jurisdiction of the prior convictions. Said actions clearly amounted to plain error and could not be waived by the plea of guilty which Mitchell subsequently entered to the habitual charge. Mitchell's conviction on the principle charge may stand but the

8

attempt to amend the indictment, along with the Order which purposely amended the indictment, is constitutionally and statutorily faulty.

The law on this issue dictates that the state dropped the ball by failing to allege and prove the date in which each of the prior convictions occurred, the date of sentencing, the Court in which the prior convictions occurred in. <u>Ard v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 875, 876 (Miss. 1981).

In Ard the Supreme Court held that:

It is readily seen that the indictment does not meet the requirements of the statute as interpreted in Usry in that it does not state the court in which he was convicted, the date of the judgment, the nature or the description of the offense for which he was convicted, nor that he was sentenced to serve "one (1) year or more in any state and/or federal penal institution, whether in this state or elsewhere...."

Ard v. State, 403 So.2d 875, 876 (Miss. 1981).

In Watson v. State, 921 So.2d 741, 743 (Miss. 1974) the Court held that the

indictment must substantially set forth the date of judgment of the prior judgment

and the nature and description of the offense constituting the previous convictions.

Also see Benson v. State, 551 So.2d 188 (Miss. 1989).

In addition to case law, Appellant would point out that Rule 6.04, Miss. Unif.

Crim. R. Cir. Court Pra. provides the following relevant:

In cases involving enhanced punishment for subsequent offenses under state statutes, including but not limited to, the Habitual Criminal Statute, Miss. Code Ann Sections 99-19-81 and 99-19-83 and the uniform Controlled Substances Law, Miss. Code Ann. Section 41-29-147: (1) The indictment must include both the principal charge and a charge of previous convictions. The indictment must allege with particularity the nature or description of the offenses constituting the previous conviction, and the date of judgment.¹

Rule 6.04 has the force and effect of a statute where it is a rule of law adopted by the Miss. Supreme Court.

This Court should find that the motion to amend the indictment and the Order purporting to amend the indictment which is attached hereto and contained in the record was defected instruments on the subject of the habitual offender status where the instrument failed to comply with the requirements of law as set forth under rule 6.04 of the Miss. Unif. Rules of County and Cir. Court practice. Moreover, if the motion and order was defective, which there were according to law, then the enhancement of the sentence on the basis of this defective motionnand order should be voided. <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 1037, 1039 (Miss. 1990); <u>Ormoud v. State</u>, 599 So.2d 951, 963 (Miss. 1992); <u>Vance v. State</u>, 844 So.2d 510, 516-17 (Miss. App. 2003).

¹ This rule specifically requires date of "judgment" as opposed to date of "conviction". The inclusion of conviction in the rule requires that the indictment include both the principal charge and a charge of previous conviction. It do not ask for date of previous conviction but only the date of judgment. Conviction and sentence is often carried out on separate dates.

ISSUE TWO

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT MITCHELL WAS **SUBJECTED** TO **INEFFECTIVE** ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN THE TRIAL COURT AND SPECIFICALLY DURING SENTENCING PROCEEDINGS IN THE COURT, IN VIOLATION OF HIS 6TH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel the defendant must satisfy the well-established two prong test set forth in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). First the party must show that counsel's performance was objectively deficient. Then the party must show that, but for counsel's deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different. Gilliard v. State, 462 So.2d 710, 714 (Miss. 1985).

In the case at bar, Mitchell's counsel allowed Mitchell to be sentenced as a habitual offender without any possibility of parole on the basis of a faulty and unconstitutional amendment to the indictment.

It is clear that Mitchell was prejudiced by his attorney's failure to raise the issue outlined here as well as the many other deficiencies set forth in this case. Defense counsel wanted Mitchell to plead guilty.

This Court should conclude that here counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel and that such ineffectiveness prejudices Mitchell's sentence in such a way as to

mandate a reversal of the habitual portion of the sentence imposed. Defense counsel was charged with knowing the law and being familiar with the record and evidence.

Mitchell's sentence as a habitual offender was the result of ineffective assistance of counsel in the trial court. The sentence imposed upon Mitchell as a result of such conviction was illegal where the state failed to come forward with a proper motion and the Court erred in accepting what the state presented. This Court should grant the post conviction relief motion in this case and vacated the habitual portion of the indictment which was the result of the amendment.

The defense attorney allowed plain error to be committed where counsel never objected to the defective motion nor order indictment which has been demonstrated by Appellant in his previous ground as being an error of law.

In Jackson v. State, 815 So. 2d 1196 (Miss. 2002), the Supreme Court held the following in regards to ineffective assistance of counsel:

Our standard of review for a claim of ineffective assistance of

counsel is a two-part test: the defendant must prove, under the totality of the circumstances, that (1) his attorney's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency deprived the defendant of a fair trial. Hiter v. State, 660 So.2d 961, 965 (Miss.1995). This review is highly deferential to the attorney, with a strong presumption that the attorney's conduct fell within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Id. at 965. With respect to the overall performance of the attorney, "counsel's choice of whether or not to file certain motions, call witnesses, ask certain questions, or make certain objections fall within the ambit of trial strategy" and cannot give rise to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Cole v. State, 666 So.2d 767, 777 (Miss.1995).

^{[7] [8] [9] ¶ 9.} Anyone claiming ineffective assistance of counsel has the burden of proving, not only that counsel's performance was deficient but also that he was prejudiced thereby. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Additionally, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for his attorney's errors, he

would have received a different result in the trial court. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss.1992). Finally, the court must then determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial based upon the totality of the circumstances. Carney v. State, 525 So.2d 776, 780 (Miss.1988).

In the instant case now before this Court, Derrick Mitchell would assert that his

attorney failed to bring to the attention of the court, by proper objections, that the state's motion

to amend the indictment was defective. Defense counsel stood still and did absolutely nothing while

the state proceeded on a defective motion to amend the indictment seeking a sentence on the

basis of prior convictions which the state did not know the date of sentencing or the

Court and Jurisdiction of the conviction.

In Ward v. State, 708 So.2d 11 (Miss. 1998) (96-CA-00067), the Supreme Court held the

following:

Effective assistance of counsel contemplates counsel's familiarity with the law that controls his client's case. See **Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104** S.Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 LEd.2d 674 (1984) (noting that counsel has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial reliable); see also **Herring v. Estelle,** 491 F.2d 125, 128 (5th Cir.1974) (stating that a lawyer who is not familiar with the facts and law relevant to the client's case cannot meet the constitutionally required level of effective assistance of counsel in the course of entering a guilty plea as analyzed under a test identical to the first prong of the **Strickland** analysis); **Leatherwood v. State,** 473 So.2d 964, 969 (Miss.1985) (explaining that the basic duties of criminal defense attorneys include the duty to advocate the defendant's case; remanding for consideration of claim of ineffectiveness where the defendant alleged that his attorney did not know the relevant law).

To successfully claim ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must meet the two-prong test set forth in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668,687 (1984). This test has also been recognized and adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court. <u>Alexander v. State</u>, 605 So.2d 1170, 1173 (Miss. 1992); <u>Knight v. State</u>, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); <u>Barnes v. State</u>, 577 So.2d 840,841 (Miss. 1991); <u>McQuarter v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss.

1990); <u>Waldrop v. State</u>, 506 So.2d 273, 275 (Miss. 1987), <u>aff d after remand</u>, 544 So.2d 834 (Miss. 1989); <u>Stringer v. State</u>, 454 So.2d 468, 476 (Miss. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1230 (1985).

The Mississippi Supreme Court visited this issue in the decision of <u>Smith v. State</u>, 631 So.2d 778, 782 (Miss. 1984). The <u>Strickland</u> test requires a showing of (1) deficiency of counsel's performance which is, (2) sufficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. <u>McQuarter</u> 506 So.2d at 687. The burden to demonstrate the two prongs is on the defendant. Id. <u>Leatherwood v. State</u>, 473 So.2d 964, 968 (Miss. 1994), reversed in part, affirmed in part, 539 So.2d 1378 (Miss. 1989), and he faces a strong rebuttable presumption that counsel's performance falls within the broad spectrum of reasonable professional assistance. <u>McQuarter</u>, 574 So.2d at 687; <u>Waldrop</u>, 506 So.2d at 275; <u>Gillard v. State</u>, 462 So.2d 710, 714 (Miss. 1985). The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that for his attorney's errors, defendant would have received a different result. <u>Nicolaou v. State</u>, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992); <u>Alunad v. State</u>, 603 So.2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992).

> In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 688, 687 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held as follows:

> > In assessing attorney performance, all the Federal Courts of Appeals and all but a few state courts have now adopted the "reasonably effective assistance" standard in one formulation or another. See Trapnell v. United States, 725 F.2d 149, 151-152 (CA2 1983); App. B to Brief for United States in United States v. Cronic, 0. T. 1983, No. 82-660, pp. 3a-6a; Sarno, [466 U.S. 668, 684]Modern Status of Rules and Standards in State Courts as to Adequacy of Defense Counsel's Representation of Criminal Client,

> > > 14

2 A. L. R. 4th 99-157, 7-10 (1980). Yet this Court has not had occasion squarely to decide whether that is the proper standard. With respect to the prejudice that a defendant must show from deficient attorney performance, the lower courts have adopted tests that purport to differ in more than formulation. See App. C to Brief for United States in United States v. Cronic, supra, at 7a-10a; Sarno, supra, at 83-99, 6. In particular, the Court of Appeals in this case expressly rejected the prejudice standard articulated by Judge Leventhal in his plurality opinion in United States v. Decoster, 199 U.S. App. D.C. 359, 371, 374-375, 624 F.2d 196, 208, 211-212 (en banc), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 944 (1979), and adopted by the State of Florida in Knight v. State, 394 So.2d, at 1001, a standard that requires a showing that specified deficient conduct of counsel was likely to have affected the outcome of the proceeding. 693 F.2d, at 1261-1262. For these reasons, we granted certiorari to consider the standards by which to judge a contention that the Constitution requires that a criminal judgment be overturned because of the actual ineffective assistance of counsel. 462 U.S. 1105 (1983). We agree with the Court of Appeals that the exhaustion rule requiring dismissal of mixed petitions, though to be strictly enforced, is not jurisdictional. See Rose v. Lundy, 455 U.S., at 515 -520. We therefore address the merits of the constitutional issue.

II.

In a long line of cases that includes Powell v. Alabama 287 U.S. 45 (1932), Mitchell v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458 (1938), and Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963), this Court has recognized that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel exists, and is needed, in order to protect the fundamental right to a fair trial. The Constitution guarantees a fair trial through [466 U.S. 668, 685] the Due Process Clauses, but it defines the basic elements of a fair trial largely through the several provisions of the Sixth Amendment, including the Counsel Clause: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence." Thus, a fair trial is one in which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of

issues defined in advance of the proceeding. The right to counsel plays a crucial role in the adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to counsel's skill and knowledge is necessary to accord defendants the "ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution" to which they are entitled. Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann, 317 U.S. 269, 275, 276 (1942); see Powell v. Alabama, supra, at 68-69.

Because of the vital importance of counsel's assistance, this Court has held that, with certain exceptions, a person accused of a federal or state crime has the right to have counsel appointed if retained counsel cannot be obtained. See Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25 (1972); Gideon v. Wainwright, supra; Mitchell v. Zerbst, supra. That a person who happens to be a lawyer is present at trial alongside the accused, however, is not enough to satisfy the constitutional command. The Sixth Amendment recognizes the right to the assistance of counsel because it envisions counsel's playing a role that is critical to the ability of the adversarial system to produce just results. An accused is entitled to be assisted by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair. [466 U.S. 668, 686] For that reason, the Court has recognized that "the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel." McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 , n. 14 (1970). Government violates the right to effective assistance when it interferes in certain ways with the ability of counsel to make independent decisions about how to conduct the defense. See, e. g., Geders v. United States, 425 U.S. 80 (1976) (bar on attorney-client consultation during overnight recess); Herring v. New York, 422 U.S. 853 (1975) (bar on summation at bench trial); Brooks v. Tennessee, 406 U.S. 605, 612 -613 (1972) (requirement that defendant be first defense witness); Ferguson v. Georgia, 365 U.S. 570, 593 -596 (1961) (bar on direct examination of defendant). Counsel, however, can also deprive a defendant of the right to effective assistance, simply by failing to render "adequate legal assistance," Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S., at 344 . Id. at 345-350 (actual conflict of interest adversely affecting lawyer's performance renders assistance ineffective). The Court has not elaborated on the meaning of the constitutional requirement of effective assistance in the latter class of cases that is, those presenting claims of "actual ineffectiveness." In giving meaning to the requirement, however, we must take its purpose to ensure a fair trial - as the quide. The

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