# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# **DERRICK MITCHELL**

### APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-CP-0327-COA

### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## APPELLEE

# **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

# APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

### JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mitchell, within the context of ineffective counsel, claims "... Mitchell's counsel allowed Mitchell to be sentenced as a habitual offender without any possibility of parole on the basis of a faulty and unconstitutional amendment to the indictment." (Brief For Appellant at 11)

While it is true that Mitchell and his lawyer confessed the amendment charging Mitchell as a life time habitual offender, we note with profound interest the State amended the indictment further to reduce the charge "... from life time habitual to day for day habitual, that is [99-19-83] to [99-19-81] and LK 06-316 is retired all together and count II of LK 06-036 which is the instant matter is similarly retired." (R. 13)

This was a part and parcel of a bargain struck by Mr. Levidiotis and the State. (R. 5-6)

Judge Howorth found as a fact that Mitchell was a habitual offender and, pursuant to the State's recommendation, sentenced Mitchell "... as a habitual offender under the lessor [sic] habitual statute to a term of ten (10) years in an institution to be designated by the Department of Corrections." (R. 14)

Defense counsel cannot be found ineffective because he negotiated for Mitchell a real meal deal.

"This court reviews the denial of post-conviction relief under an abuse of discretion standard." Philips v. State, 856 So.2d 568, 570 (Ct.App.Miss. 2003).

It is enough to say that a review of the findings of fact and conclusions of law reached by Judge Howorth should result in a finding the trial court did not abuse its judicial discretion in finding that Mitchell's post-conviction complaint was plainly without merit.

By entering a voluntary plea of guilty, Mitchell admitted all the elements of the charge and, at the same time. waived all non-jurisdictional defects contained in the indictment, including the date of the prior judgments.

"The burden is upon [Mitchell] to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to the requested post-conviction relief." **Bilbo v. State,** 881 So.2d 966, 968 (¶3) (Ct.App.Miss. 2004) citing Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-23(7) (Rev.2000). Mitchell has failed to do so here.

When reviewing the trial court's decision to deny a petition for post-conviction relief, an appellate court will not disturb the trial court's factual findings unless they are found to be clearly erroneous. **Brown v. State,** 731 So.2d 595, 598 (¶6) (Miss. 1999).

"A trial judge's finding will not be reversed unless manifestly wrong." Hersick v. State, 904 So.2d 116, 125 (Miss. 2004).

"However, where questions of law are raised the applicable standard of review is *de novo*," i.e., afresh or anew. *Id.* 

Mitchell has failed to make out a *prima facie* post-conviction showing he was denied the effective assistance of counsel during his guilty plea for failing to object to the amendment.

Counsel's performance, contrary to Mitchell's position, was neither deficient nor did any deficiency prejudice Mitchell. **Strickland v. Washington,** 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); **Williams v. State,** 819 So.2d 532 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001); **Reynolds v. State,** 736 So.2d 500 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999). It cannot be said that but for counsel's failure to do this or to do that Mitchell would not have entered his plea of guilty.

### ARGUMENT

MITCHELL'S VOLUNTARY PLEA OF GUILTY TO THE SALE OF COCAINE WAIVED AND/OR FORFEITED HIS RIGHT TO ASSAIL IN A POST-CONVICTION ENVIRONMENT ALL NON-JURISDICTIONAL DEFECTS IN HIS INDICTMENT, INCLUDING THE DATE OF THE PRIOR JUDGMENTS.

# MITCHELL WAS NOT DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BECAUSE COUNSEL NEGOTIATED A LESSER SENTENCE UNDER A LESSER STATUTE.

Mitchell argues the amendment made on the day of his plea to the habitual offender portion of his indictment failed to describe the previous convictions with the required particularity.

The order of the circuit judge summarily denying post-conviction relief should be affirmed for the following reasons.

### Waiver of Claim(s).

Because Mitchell entered a valid plea of guilty, he waived any non-jurisdictional defects in his indictment or information. **Drennan v. State**, 695 So.2d 581, 584 (Miss. 1997) ("[A] valid guilty plea . . . admits all elements of a formal charge and operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional defects contained in an indictment [or information] against a defendant."), citing various cases; **Hunt v. State**, 11 So.3d 764 (Ct.App.Miss. 2009); **Swift v. State**, 6 So.3d 1108 (Ct.App.Miss. 2008), reh denied, cert denied 11 So.3d 1250 (2009), cert denied 130 S.Ct. 100 (2009).

There are two exceptions where a guilty plea does not waive a defect in an indictment: (1) failure to charge an essential element of a *criminal offense* and (2) subject matter jurisdiction. **Morgan v. State,** 966 So.2d 204 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) Neither one of the two exceptions applies here because "Sections 99-19-81 and 99-19-83 of the Miss.Code Ann. are not *criminal offenses* and only affect sentencing." **Osborne v. State,** 404 So.2d 545, 548 (Miss. 1981).

The "[e]ntry of a guilty plea is, itself, an act of waiver of all defects in the indictment that could have been cured by amendment." **Smith v. State,** 880 So.2d 1094, 1099 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004). In **Shinall v. State,** 832 So.2d 1291 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002), a defendant charged with robbery.

by entering a guilty plea, waived any alleged discrepancy in the indictment as to the exact date of the offense.

Mitchell's indictment, as it originally stood, clearly identified the jurisdiction as the Circuit Court of Lafayette County. The amendment, almost as clearly, identifies the jurisdiction of prior convictions as "this court" which properly denotes the jurisdiction as being the Circuit Court of Lafayette County. Admittedly, neither the motion to amend nor the amendment itself contains the date of the prior convictions, but both describe with specificity the nature of the offense for which Mitchell was convicted, and both state that he was sentenced to serve, and did serve, one year or more in the custody of the MDOC. (C.P. at 32-33)

In addition to all this, the circuit court cause numbers of both of the prior convictions are contained in the amendment, *viz.*, LK98-265B and LK98-331D. This clearly provided Mitchell and his lawyer with access to the dates of the judgment and was sufficient to inform Mitchell of the specific prior convictions upon which the State relied and to which the defendant ultimately confessed. (R. 13) *See* Franklin v. State, 766 So.2d 16 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000), reh denied.

It is well settled that a plea of guilty operates to waive and/or forfeit all non-jurisdictional rights and defects incident to trial. Rowe v. State, 735 So.2d 399 (Miss. 1999); Anderson v. State, 577 So.2d 390, 392 (Miss. 1991); Dennis v. State, 873 So.2d 1045 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004).

A valid guilty plea admits all the elements of a formal charge and operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional defects in a criminal case. Edmondson v. State, 17 So.3d 591 (Ct.App.Miss. 2009); Swift v. State, *supra*, 6 So.3d 1108 (Ct.App.Miss. 2008), reh denied, cert denied 11 So.3d 1250 (2008), cert denied 130 S.Ct. 100 (2009).

The failure to include the date of the prior judgments in the habitual offender amendment to the indictment is, at best, a non-jurisdictional defect which is waived by a voluntary plea of guilty. Mitchell himself told Judge Lackey, "I'm just pleading guilty because I want to plead." (R. 5)

A valid guilty plea operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional defects contained in an indictment or information against an accused. **Bowling v. State** 12 So.3d 607 (Ct.App.Miss. 2009); **Edmondson v. State**, *supra*, 17 So.3d 591 (Ct.App.Miss. 2009); **Swift v. State**, *supra*, 6 So.3d 1108 (Ct.App. Miss. 2008), reh denied, cert denied 11 So.3d 1250 (2008), cert denied 130 S.Ct. 100 (2009).

In **Miller v. State**, 973 So.2d 319 (Ct.App.Miss. 2008), the Court held that Miller waived any argument his indictment for the sale of cocaine was defective where no argument was made that his plea of guilty was invalid. The same appears to be true here.

In Cannon v. State, 918 So.2d 734, 742 (Ct.App. Miss. 2005), we find the following language also applicable here:

The supreme court has held that amendments to charge habitual status are not viewed as a matter affecting the substance of the offense and are allowed under URCCC Rule 7.09. *Burrell v. State*, 726 So.2d 160 (¶4) (Miss. 1998). Accordingly, this Court has followed that precedent and found that such amendments affect only sentencing and not the substance of the underlying offense. *Williams v. State*, 766 So.2d 815, 817 (¶5) (Miss.Ct.App. 2000), *Anderson v. State*, 766 So.2d 133, 135 (¶¶ 4-5) (Miss.Ct.App. 2000). We refuse to stray from such holdings and thus find this issue without merit.

See also Shumaker v. State, 956 So.2d 1078 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007), quoting from Swington v. State,

742 So.2d 1106, 1118 (¶44) (Miss. 1999) ["Prior offenses used to charge a defendant as an habitual

offender are not substantive elements of the offense charged."]

Mitchell, by pleading guilty after conferring with his attorney in the witness room and being,

by all appearances, satisfied with the deal that was reached (R 5-6), waived his claims which were

non-jurisdictional in nature and only affected his sentencing. Mitchell could have received life under

99-19-83; instead he got ten (10) years, day for day, under 99-19-81.

Mitchell, by voluntarily pleading guilty, has failed to demonstrate "a claim that is procedurally alive which substantially shows that he has been denied a state or federal right." Horton v. State, 584 So.2d 764, 767 (Miss. 1991).

### Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.

Mitchell also presents his arguments targeting an improper amendment to his indictment within the context of allegedly ineffective counsel.

We note first of all that Mitchell has never - no, not once - contested or disputed the prior felony convictions and/or sentences used to enhance the duration of his most recent sentence. There was no contemporaneous and specific objection to the introduction of prior convictions. We note also the defendant confessed the amendment to the life time habitual status. (R. 13) Mitchell's complaint is devoid of merit for these reasons, if for none other. **Torrey v. State**, 891 So.2d 188 (Miss. 2004) [Amendment to indictment in order to charge defendant under §99-19-91 was proper where at trial defendant neither disputed nor contested the prior felony sentences introduced by the State.]

In any event, defense counsel's performance was not deficient for the following reasons: During the plea-qualification hearing, Mr. Levidiotis made the following observations:

BY MR. LEVIDIOTIS: Just for purposes of making an absolutely clean record, came in today, we confessed the amendment to life time habitual offender, the State made a motion to reduce it from life time habitual to day for day habitual, that is "Big Bitch" to "Little Bitch" and LK 06-316 is retired all together and count II of LK 06-036 which is the instant matter is similarly retired. (R. 13)

The trial judge accepted the recommendation made by the State that the court sentence Mitchell to serve ten (10) years. (R. 13-14)

There was no deficiency in defense counsel's performance and no prejudice to Mitchell.

### CONCLUSION

\* \* \* \* \* \*

Miss.Code Ann. § 99-39-11 reads, in its pertinent parts, as follows:

(2) If it plainly appears from the face of the motion, any annexed exhibits and the prior proceedings in the case that the movant is not entitled to any relief, the judge may make an order for its dismissal and cause the prisoner to be notified.

\* \* \* \* \* \*

It does, he did, and he was. **Garlotte v. State**, 530 So.2d 693 (Miss. 1988) ["This case presents an excellent example of the appropriate use of the summary disposition provision of §99-39-11(2)]; **Falconer v. State**, 832 So.2d 622 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002) ["(W)e affirm the dismissal of Falconer's motion for post-conviction relief as manifestly without merit."].

Appellee respectfully submits this case is devoid of any claims worthy of an evidentiary hearing or vacation of the guilty plea voluntarily entered by Derrick Mitchell or his sentence as a habitual offender imposed in its wake. Accordingly, the judgment entered in the lower court summarily denying Mitchell's motion for post-conviction collateral relief should be affirmed. Respectfully submitted,

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY, GENERAL RF #17 BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNAY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR N

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

## IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

### **DERRICK MITCHELL**

## PETITIONER

RESPONDENT

CAUSE NO. L09-428

V.

THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### **ORDER DENYING RELIEF REQUESTED**

This cause is before the Court by virtue of the filing by Petitioner of a Motion for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief. The Court considered the relief requested in the document, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 99-39-11(1) and (2).